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PR.EF A CE. 

Having received numerous inquiries from the citizens of Albany, 

from visitors sojourning in our midst, and more especially from 

officials and others connected with or interested in the development 

or maintenance of parks in other cities, for information of an illus­

trative and statistical nature concerning the parks of this city, I 
have been led to believe that this demand could be met by the illus4 

trated pamphlet which is herewith submitted. 

WM. S. EGERTON, 

Superintendent of Pa.rk8 . 
.Al/Jany, 1892 .. 





WASHINGTON PARK. 

The early history of park development in this city was graphi .. 
cally portrayed in an article prepared by Mr. Wm. D. Morange, 
formerly the Secretary of the Board of Park Commissioners of this 
city, and by resolution of the Board printed in the minutes of Nov. 
18, 1871. From this article the following extracts are taken : 

'' The duty of providing an amplf) park for the city of Albany 
was from time to time suggested in the history of the city, and oc­
casionally some little effort was 1nade to secure jt. A number of 
newspaper articles appeared in 1859 and 1860, suggesting various 
localities and sundry appropriate designations for a new city park. 
The necessity of some movement in the direction of an extensive 
park was forcibly impressed upon the city authorities by the action 
of the Albany Institute in 1863. In a communication fro1n that 
body to the Common Council, prepared by Prof. David Murray, 
they recount the benefits to be derived fro1n a park with great force." 

" The paper shows that cleanliness, fresh air, th~ presence of 
vegetatio~ are essential to health; that private enterprise, even when 
aided by intelligence and wealth, cannot always in large cities obtain 
these; that it requires the interference of public authority to pro­
vide open and accessible grounds for the enjoyment of these luxu­
ries ; that a beautiful park in any city is a great moral power, and 
does more than criminal courts or policemen to repress crjme. Men 
are wiser, better, more temperate and loving, when they have wan­
dered amid trees and by waterfalls, and heard birds sing and 
children laugh and play. The slovenliness and filth which some­
titnes unnecessarily disgrace the tenements of the poor in cities, aro 
put to shame by the sight of the beauty and freshness of nature." 

"The practical suggestion of the communication was, that Albany 
be provided with a park of 250 acres, to be laid out in tl1e north­
western section of the city, and a map was annexed and published 
in the Common Council minutes· showing the location referred to." 

"'fhe steps toward a park were delayed until the year 1869, when 
a law was passed entitled "An Act in relation to a pu~lic park in 
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the city of Albany," the area of the same extending over' the 
Washington Parade Ground, the old State street burial grounds, 
the Alms-house fa.rm and the Penitentiary grounds, with such other 
property as might be acquired by purchase or otherwise." 

''Washington Square, or the Parade Ground, situate between State 
street, Madison avenue, Willett and Knox streets, ceded to the Com­
missioners by the law above referred to, was duly considered in the 
plan for a new park, and ground was broken early in July, 1870, 
for its improvement." 

" The State street burying grounds were at this period surrounded 
by a common fence about ten feet high. Each congregation had its 
own gate for its funerals, and high steps on ·either side of the fence 
permitted egress an'1 ingress to occasional visitors. In the earlier 
days these gronnds were well kept, but the Rural Cemetery took 
away all the poetry from the willows and the elms and consigned it 
to the Troy road. 'fhere was a mouldy and neglected air about the 
place. The bodies had been removed to the Rural Cemetery, and 
the grounds subsequently were trespassed upon by vicious idlers." 

From topograpl1ical maps prepared at this time, a plan for tbe 
extension of the park over the area of the burial grounds, and up 
the valley, now occupied by the lake in Washington Park, was sub­
mitted by Messrs. Bogart and Culyer, at that time employed as the 
landscape architects of the Board. 

Tl~is plan is shown l1crewith, and can be compared with the com­
pleted plan of W ashingtou Park, also sub1nitted. 

Subsequent purchases of contiguous real estate enabled the Board 
yearly to- add to its area and to re1nove unsightly objects from the 
immediate surroundings of the portions i~provcd. 

This system of intermittent purchases and acquisition of contiguoUB 
property was found to be expensive and unsatisfactory, as values 
were enhanced by the successive improvements made, and property­
owners were not to be cajoled or frightened into selling their prop­
erty by increased assessed valuations or cumulative taxes. Each 
acqniHition of new territory necessitated some modification of por­
tions of the park area already defined, and still further advanced 
the value of lands ultimately found necessary to be taken for park 
purposes. 

The narrow scope of the original design is made conspicuously 
apparent, when compared with that shown of the completed park. 
Even this is marred by the lack of sy1nmetry, and by private proper-
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ties surrounded almost entirely by the park improvement. Taken 
as a whole, however, Washington Park is unique in design, central 
in location, harmonious and natural in its treatment, ·and well de-
serving the many encomiums it receives. . 

To illustrate some of the many pleasing features within the limits 
of the park, several photographic views are reproduced and shown. 
The d~sign has been to illustrate the landscape effects, showing the 
character of the topography and tree growth, the lake views and 
floral ornamentation, and not to present pleasing pictures of isolated 
or especially attractive corners of the park, or happy combinations 
of foliage and sky, which can be readily obtained by an expert 
photographer in any picturesque spot by the wayside or along the 
banks of the N ormanskill. 

To Albanians no description of the location or object shown is 
needed. For those unacquainted with the park, a short analysis of 
the views is affixed. 

The Board of Commissioners of Washington Park proceeded to 
organize May 8, 1~69, under the following : 

Chapter 582. 

"AN Aar IN RELATION TO A PUBLIC PARK IN THB Cl'l'Y oF ALBANY." 

PASSED May 5, 1869. 

From which the following sections are taken : 

SEOTION 1. The property in the city and county of Albany known 
as the burial ground property, the penitentiary grounds Lands set 

and alms-house farm, are hereby set apart and devoted to ~,:i,!f 
the pnrposeK of a public park, to be known as the Washing• ton Par • 

ton Park of the city of Albany. 
§ 2. The title to said property is hereby vested in a Board of Trus- .. 

tees, to consist of John Bridgford, Arthur Bott, George Board or 
Dawson, Dudley Olcott, William Cassidy, John Fair, Trustees. 

Rufus W. Peckham, Jr., Samuel H. Ransom and John H. Van 
Antwerp, who shall hold it in trust for the city of Albany, 
for the purposes of a public· park as aforesaid. The Re- ~:~ffe~ 
cord~r of the city of Albany shall aet as counsel of the Board counsel. 

of Traatees, without compensation. 
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§ 6. The Board of Trustees of Washington Park of the city of 
Or1rantza- Alba_ny herein provided for shall rneet within ten days after 
¥~~sf!es. the passage of this act and organize by the ele.ction of a 

President and TreaBurer frorn their number, and a Secretary 
~!~~r;~ who may or may not be a member of the Board, in its dis 

cretion, and shall receive such salary as the Board may deem 
just, not to exceed the su1n of five hundred dollars. 

§ 7. The Trustees named in the second section of this act shall be 
divided into three classes, who shall hold their offices as follows : 

The first class for three years; the second class f ot· six years, and 
Classiftoa- the third class for nine years. The Trustees who are to com­
¥~~si!es. prise the respective classes shall be selected by said Board 

of Trustees by lot, and such selection shall be made at the 
Vacancies, first meeting for organization, as provided in section six. 
how filled. All vacancies for the nnexoired terms in the Board shall be 

~ 

filled by the remaining 1ne1nbers of said Board. The snc-
~~p°:01nt cessors of said Trustees shall be appointed by the Mayor of 
:~:.es- the city of Albany and hold office for nine years. 

The following citizens of Albany have been identified with the 
history of Washington Park from the date of its organization to the 
present time as CommiBsioners. A list of the administrative officers 
during the same period is also given: 

May 8, 1869, to May 8, 1892. 
ARTHUR BoTT3, JoaN FAIR6, 
JonN BRIDGFORn3, DuoLEY OLco'r'r6, 
WILLIAM CASSIDY9, RUFUS w. PECKHAM9, 
GEORGE DAwsoN6, SAMUEL H. RANsox9

, 

· JOHN H. VAN ANTWEKP3 
• 

. 
President - JOHN H. VAN AwrwERP. 
Treasurer - DunLEY OLCOTT. 

Secretary - WM. D. MoRANGE. 
Cl1ief Engineer - REUBEN H. BINGHAM. 

Engineer in Charge- WILLIAMS. EGERTON. 
Landscape Architects -Messrs. BooA.RT and CuLYER. 

The Trustees or Commissioners to comprise the respective classes 
designa.ted by the act of incorporation \Vero elected as follows (indi­
cated by figures): 

First class - Jon~ H. VAN ANTWE&P3, JOHN BxmGFORD8
, ABTHUB 

Bo'I"r, to serve three years. 
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Second class - DuoLEY OwoT16, GEORGE D.a.wsoN6, JOHN F AIR6, 

to serve six years. 
Third class-RUFus W. PEOKHA.11, J11.9, W1LLiill 0ASSmY9, 

SAMUEL RANsOM9
, to serve nine years. 

The terms of office of Messrs. Bott, Bridgford and Van Antwerp 
having expired· by limitation May 8, 1872, the Mayor appointed 
Messrs. Robt. L. Johnson, John Bridgford and John H. Van Ant­
werp to fill the vacancies. The Board reorganized .May 13, 1872 as 
follows: 

JOHN BRIDGFORD9, 

WILLIAM 0ABSIDv8, 

GEORGE DAWSON3, 

JoaN FAIR3
, 

RonT.' L. J OHNSON6
, 

DuoLEY 0LooTT8, 
RUFUS w. PEOKHlll', 
SAMUEL H. RANso!ri6, 

JOHN H. VAN ANTWERP9• 

President - JOHN H. VAN ANrrwERP. 

Treasurer - DUDLEY Otoon. 
Secretary- WM. D. MoRANGE. 
Engineer - WILLIAM S. EGERTON. 

Mr. Reuben H. Bingham retired as Chief Engineer, and the ser­
vices of Messrs. Bogart and Culyer were dispensed with. 

The Board reorganized June 1~, 1875, the first regular meeting 
subsequent to the appointment of Commissioners by the Mayor 
(Mr. Edmund L. Judson) to fill the vacancies occasioned by the ex­
piration of the terms of Messrs. Dawson, Fair and Olcott ; the 
Mayor having appointed Messrs. Dawson, Olcott and James D. 
Wasson. 

The Board reorganized as follows : 
JonN BmnGFoRn6

, DonLEY 0Loo'IT9, 
GEORGE DAwsoN9

, RuFcs W. PEoKHAM3
, 

RoBT. L. J OHMsoN3, SAMUEL H. ~ANSOM3
, 

* DANIEL MANNJNG1
, JAMES D. WASSON9, 

JOHN H. VAN ANTWERP6
• 

President-JOHN H. VAN A.rrwEm>. 
t Secretary - WM. D. MoBANGB. 

Engineer - WM. S. EGERTON. 

* Mr. Daniel Manning was elected by the Board Feb. 17, 1878, to fill the va­
cancy occasioned by the death of Mr. William Cassidy. 

t Mr. Wm. D. Morange resigned as Secretary Dec. 10, 1877. Mr. Alfred 
Egerton was appointed Secretary Feb. 11, 1878, to fill the vacancy. 
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The terms of Messrs. Peckharn, Ransom and Manning having 
expired, the Mayor appointed Messrs. Rufns W. Peckham, John G. 
Farnsworth and Robert Lenox Banks to fill the vacancies in the 
Board. 

The Board reorganized May 13, 1878, as follows: 

RoBT. LENOX BANK89
, *JOHN BBIDGFORD1

, 

GEORGE DAwsON6
, DunLEY 01,c<>TT', 

JoHN G. FABNBWORTa9, RuFus W. PECKHAll', 

RoBERT L. JoHNSON3
, JAMES D. W ASSON8, 

J oHN H. v AN ANTWERr. 

President-.ToaN H. VAN ANTWEBP. 

Treasurer - DunLEY 0.LOOTr. 
Secretary- ALFRED R. EGERTON. 

Engineer and Superintendent- W11. S. EGERTON. 

On May 5, 1881, the Mayor (Mr. M. N. Nolan) appointed 
Messr~. Daniel Manning, Robt. C. Pruyn and John H. Van Ant­
\\·erp to fill the vacancies occasioned by the ,expiration of the terms 
of office of Messrs. ~anning, Ransom and Van Antwerp. 

The Board reorganized May 9, 1881, as follows : 

RoBT. LENOX BANKS6, 

t GEORGE DAWSON1
, 

JOHN G. FARNSWORTH6
, 

DANIEL MA.NNING9, 

JOHN H. VAN 

DUDLEY 0LcoTr3, 
RUFUS w. PEOKHill6, 

RoBT. C. PROYN9, 

JAMES D. w Assor, 
ANTWERP. 

President - JOHN H. VAN ANTWERP. 

Treasurer - DunLEY OLCOTT. · 

Secretary - ALFRED R. Eo ERTON ·+ 
Engineer and Superintendent- WM. S. EGERTON. 

May 12, 1884, Mr. Daniel Manning resigned and Mr. Dudley 
Olcott, whose tern1 had expired by limitation May 8, 1884, was 
elected by the Board to fill the vacancy. 

* M.r. John Bridgford retiigned as Commissioner Aug. 12, 1878, and Mr. 
Daniel Manning was elected by the Board to fill the vacancy. . 

t Mr. Grange Bard, Jr., was elected by the Board May 14, 1888, to 811 the 
vacancy in the Board occasioned by the death of Mr. George Dawson. 

t Resigned Nov. 14, 1881. 
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May 19, 1884, Mr. Rufus W. Peckham resigned, occasioned by 
his election to the Supreme Court of the State, and Mr. Erastus 
Corning was elected by the Board to :fill the vacancy. 

The terms of office of Messrs. Sard, Wasson and Olcott having 
expired May 8, 1884, Mr. John Swinburne, Mayor, appointed 
Messrs. Grange Sard, John H. Farrell and Charles J. Buchanan to 
succeed these gentlernen . 

.May 19, 1884, the Board reorganized as follows: 

RonT. LENOX BANKs3
, DUDLEY 0Lc<>Tl'6, 

CHAS. J. BucHANAN9, RoBT. C. PRUY~, 

JOHN H. FARRELL9, GRANGE 8ARD9, 

JOHN G. }.,ABNSWORTH3, ERASTUS CoRNING3, 

JOHN H. VAN ANTwERP6
• 

President- DUDLEY OLCOTT. 

Treasurer - JOHN G. FARNSWORTH. 

Superintendent and Secretary - Wx. S. EGERTON. 

:Mr. John Boyd Thacher, Mayor, appointed Sept. 7, 1887, Messrs. 
Robt. C. Blackall, Erastus Corning and Abraham Lansing to sneceed 
Messrs. Banks, Corning and Farnsworth, whose terms had expired 
.May 8, 1887, by limitation. 

The Board organized Oct. 10, 1887, as fqllows: 

RoBT. C. BLACKALL9, ABRAHAM LANSING9, 

Ca.A.s. J. :BucHANAN6, DunLBY OLcorrr3, 
ERASTUS CoRNING9

, RonT. C. PRUYN3, 
JouN H. FARRELL8

,. GRANGE S.A.Rn6, 

JOHN H. VAN ANTwEBP3. 

President -DuoLEY OLCOTT. 

Treasurer - CHAS. J. BuoH.A.NAN. 
Superintendent and Secretary - W11. S. EGERTON. 

The terms of office of Messrs. Van Antwerp, Olcott and Pruyn 
having expired May 8, 1890, the Mayor reappointed these gentle-
1nen. Mr. John H. Van Antwerp declined to serve. The Mayor 
appointed Mr. Thomas D. Coleman in his place. 
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The Board reorganized Oct. 23, 1890, as follows : 

RoBT. C. BLACKALL6
, JoHN H. FARRELL3

, 

CuAs. J. BucHANAN3, ABRAHAM LANsINo6, 

Taos. D. CoLEMAN9
, DunLEY 0LCOTT9, 

ERABTus CoRNINo6
, RouT. C. PBUYN,9 

GR.ANGE 8ARD3• 

President - DunLEY OwOTr. 
Treasurer - CHAS. J. Booe.A.NAN. 

Superintendent and Secretary- WM. S. EoBRTON. 

The terms of Messrs. Buchanan, Farrell and Sard expire by limi­
tation May 5, 1893. 

The following is a tabulated statement of maintenance budgets 
and expenditures for the several areas under charge of this Board 
for ten years past (1882 to 1891), and a graphic statement of the 
several parks, etc., cared for: 



YEAR. 

1881.... . . . . . . . . ............... . 
18&1... . • . . . . • . • • • •••...••....... 
1884.:. • • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • • . • • • . • ••••. 
1886 • • • . • • . . . . • • • . . • . . ·•. • •... ·. 
1886.. . • . . • • • • • • • ....•.. · •. . -..... 
1887.... . . . . . . . . . . .....••...•.... 
188'1 .•••••••••••••••.•••.••....•••• 
1889.... . • • • . . . . • . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . ... 
1800. • • . • • . . • • • . •.••••..••••..... 
1891.... . . • . . . . . . . . ...........•.... 

Average for ten fe&l'll •.•.•.••. 

.,;a ..: 

=~ 
5't1 aQ) 
~~ i 

l:rJ,647 oo 
21,000 00 
22,880 00 
23,117 00 
22,3'6 00 
22,915 15 
21,310 40 
21,"1 00 
21, «o 00 
2',950 00 

. . . . . . . ... 

.a • 
=i g~ 
a.s 
<iii 

'29,8'7 00 
11,500 00 
15,000 00 
15,000 00 
13,000 00 
18,819 75 
17,495 00 
21,.Sl 00 
21,4W 00 
!j,950 00 

. . . . . . . ... 

= . 
";..a .. i 
0 =~ ~ c:: :1-c, 0 
G,l O Q)= 
08~ IS 
Cl ar:I ~ot, 
Q) ar:I = 
A IS 

. . . . . . . . . 
. . . ... 

17,880 00 
8,117 00 
9,848 00 
4,0d (() 
8,966 00 ............ . . . . . ..... 

. . . . . .... 

e.c 
-=i-3.E~ =1~ 
~~ 

Slf>,720 31 
17,ft(K 20 
13,426 86 
16, LOO 89 
11,410 00 
17,704 63 
15,862 60 
20,003 21 
19,'iol 70 
23,773 70 -

117-,104 13 

e. . = I'll -.. ~ C Ga.. .... =s ar:I s-e ~ I 

C8r,.. 
- .,;a aS aQ .... 

):.I 0 

e. 
Q d • c .. G,l -s= !iwi = G,l pi,, 

ii~~ 
):.I 

11,009 93 1552 89 
1,850 06 2'lO 82 
1,160 77 160 lrJ 
l,OO'a 22 619 72 
1,01, 84 280 ,1 
1,006 50 538 21 
1,188 29 4T1 21 
3,850 00 '64 95 
1,635 14 996 41 
1,587 91 4:72 ' ' -------

Sl,455 66 St87 89 

~-
~1 
-p,, 
.:1,s 
.s= 
~i 

P,074- M 
814- 86 

1,821 67 
504 '16 
126 eo 

'14: 85 
1M62 
67 06 
6011 

387 '6 

$608 M 

Cl) 
G,l C) • 

~~I 
f=f ... !~ 
lt.S­
<:il-; 

ll9,8r»7 77 
19,989 24 
16,569 71 
18,217 88 
12,832 68 
19,321 '15 
11,13"2 88 
2',275 21 
22,4.a 88 
28,171 51 -

119,681 15 

m 
Q)~ 

- G,l O&il) 

=-= .!::, 
0~ 

C:I 
Q) = A-

. . . . . ..... 
·si ;sa ·ti· 

8,217 88 . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ...... . 
• • • • • • • • • • • 
• • • • • • • • ••• 

• ♦ I ♦ ♦ •• ♦ • ♦ ♦ 0 

. 
,t:, 

f~ 
Ji 
CH 
i:0 Cl) 

g 
:, 

13,18913 
1,610 76 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 
624:85 
ft98 90 

1,848 89 
8812 
., ltJ 
55911 

. . . .. . . . . . .. 
N. B. A revenue ot a variable amount, usualJy less than Sl,000, la derived from rents, assesamenta, etc., In addition to the yearly tu budaet. 
The aggregates above given include salaries and all expenses. 

w 
Ci 
Wt 
Bo 

AREAS. 

lShln~n Park. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 
y par s . . . • . . . . . • . . . • . • . . • • . . . . . • •. 
,stern avenue . . . • •........•.•.•... 
ulevard ..... . . . . . . . . ........... 
.rsery grounds .•.•••• . . . . . . . . . .. 

l 

ANALYSIS OF ARE.AS MAINTAINED. 

LenJ!h of Len~h of Area of 
Area of Lake. Lawna D ves. Walks. M.owed . • 

Mlles. M.lles. Acres. Acree. 
. 8 6.0 6 65 

. ............... 0.8 . . . . . . . . . . . .... 10 
1.6 8.2 . ............... 10 
1.06 . . . . . . . . ...... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 

. . . . . . . . . . ... . ............... . . . ......... 6 - - -
5.66 10 6 100 

Character of Total Area. Summer care. Road-bed. 

Acres. 
90 Gravel. Sprinkle. 
JG 
20 Granite block. 
16 Telford and 

Gravel. Sprinkle. 
5 -

140 

~ t::!'4,,,. 

~ 

~ 
~ 

f 
~ • 

t-,,L 
~ 
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The following extracts are taken from the Treasurer's Report 
dated January 1, 1892: 

RECAPITULATION OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS FOR THE 
YEAR 1891. 

REOEIPrs. 
Balance on hand January 1, 1891. . . . . . . . . ....•••.••••••••.•..... 
Amount allowed by chy for maintenance of city parks ..•.....••. 
Amount received from rent of park buildings, pasture, etc ........ . 
Amount received for maintenance of Englewood Place from adjoin-

• 1ng owners. . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 
Amount received for maintenance of Th urlo,v Terrace from adjoin-

• 10g owners. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . • . . . • . . . . . . • . . . . • . •••.... 
Amount received for labor, trees, manure, etc........ . • • . . . . . . . 
Amount received for interest on deposits. • . • • • • • • • • • . • • • • ••..... 

DISBURSEMENTS. 

For maintenance of W ashlngton Park. . • • • • • • • • • • • • . . •......... 
For maintenance of small city parks, viz.: 

Academy Park . . . . . . . . . . . • • • ••.••••.•••.......••••. 
Bleecker Park . . . . . . . . . • • • . • • • • . . . • . • • . . . • . .•... 
Hudson Avenue Park.. . . • . . . . . . • • • . . . . . . • • • • • . . 
Clinton Square Park. . • • • • • . • • • • • •.•........•••.... 
Rensselaer Park. . • . • • ••.•••.•.•.•••..••.....••..... 
St. Joseph's Park. . . • • • • •••••...•••••...•...••.... 
Townsend Park. . . . . . . • . . . • • . • . . . . . • . • . . . . . . . . • . ... 

'682 49 
127 64 
81 08 

121 48 
164 24 
888 60 
127 88 

For maintenance of Boulevard.. . . . . . . •.....•...........•..•..... 
For maintenance of Western avenue ...••..........•....•..••..... 
Balance. . • • • . . • • . • • • • • • . • • . . , • • • • . . • . • • , • • • . . • • • • • • . . • . . . • . . . . . 

,220 82 
24,950 00 

405 00 

118 75 

199 95 
898 or 
142 80 

'26,780 78 

t28,778 70 

1,587 91 
837 46 
472 44 
559 22 

t26,780 73 

8/UJtJJi,ng tlu total, reui,pt, and diBbursementa from t'h6 date of tlUJ organizatwn of 
tke Pmrk Oommwion, in 1869, to January 1, 1892: 

RECEIPI'S. 

Assessed upon the city at large . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . • • . . • • . • ••.•••.••. 
Bonds issued by the city as follows: 

On account of construction, t587, 000, in bonds sold, 
netting. . . . . . . . . . • . . . • . . . . . . . . •.. • . • .. • . . $566,541 02 

On account of real estate purchased, and oost of 
acquiring title to same, $521,000, in bonds sold, 
netting. . . . . • • • • . • • • . . . • • • • . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . 587,625 62 

Amount received from city for maintenance.. . . . .••............ 
Amount received for interest on bank balances .••..••........... 
Amount received from assessments for Robin street improvement. 
Amount received from sundries.. • ••.•••••.•••••••••••..••.... 

t180,oM 92 

1,104,166 64 
278,365 75 

3,830 18 
3,145 85 

28,002 80 

tl,543,066 14 



Oity of Albany. 

DISBIJR8BMENTS. 

Real estate purchased,including cost of acquiring title to same .•• 
Construction of Washington Park, including Western avenue (old 

improvement). . . . . . . . . . . . . ............•••••.•..••......•.•• 
Construction of Academy Park. . ............................. . 
Construction of Boulevard ..•••.•••.•••.....•••......•..•••.••• 
Maintenance of Boulevard. . . • . • . • • . . . . . . .........•...••• 
Maintenance of Western avenue.... . . . . . . . . . • . . .. • . . . . . . . . . 
Maintenance of small city parks. . • • • • • . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . .... . 
Taxes, drain and street assessments. • • • . ~ . . • . . . . . . . . . . . ... . 
Improvement of Penitentiary grounds ...•.•••.................. 
Maintenance of Penitentiary grounds •.•••......••...........•.• 
Improvement of Robin street ..••.•••......................••.. 
Sundries.. . • • . .••...•.•••.••....•.............•••.••.••••.... 
Maintenance of Washington Park. . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . • . . . . . ..... 
Balance.. • • • • • • • • • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . • • . . 

15 

'663,487 18 

429,919 12 
4,806 so 

80,513 66 
9,886 25 
5,816 12 

15,578 25 
21,286 40 
19,824 95 

880 70 
4,624 09 

15,881 48 
270,102 47 

559 22 

tt ,548,066 14 

For this large outlay what has the city received in return and 
what benefits have the citizens derived from the improvements 
made I The Treasurer of the Board in his report to the Common 
Council, bearing date January 11, 1875, says: 

"It may not be uninteresting, or out of place, for me in this 
report to make a few brief comparisons, in a pecuniary point of 
view, without regard to the social pleasures and healthful benefits 
derived by our citizens from the possession of the park (alluding to 
W ashingto~ Park)." 

"The assessed valuation in the year 1868, one year prior to the 
organization of the Park Commission by the Legislature, of portions 
of the Ninth and Tentl1 wards-the wards most benefited by the 
park- was 12,696,688. This exact area, now contained in parts of 
the Tenth, Thirteenth, Fourteenth, Fifteenth and Sixteenth wards, 
under the reorganization of the wards of the city, is assessed this 
year (1875) at $4,843,440, being an increase of $2,146,752." The 
assessed valuation within the same bounds the present year (1891) is 
114,534,000, showing an increase of $9,690,600 ~n sixteen years, or 
111,837,352 since the organization of the Board. 

The assessed valuation of the " Englewood Place," front on Wash­
ington Park, formerly called Robin street, was in 1875 $9,500; it is 
now, as i111proved in 1891, $175,800; the same comparisons could 
be 1nade on State and Willett streets. 

This increase in assessed valuations has been largely due .to im 
provements and constructions prompted by the location of Washing­
ton Park, and the influence of the park has not ceased, as there 
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remains a large _amount of frontage still unimproved, and contiguous 
territory available for building and improvement. 

But aside from this pecuniary aspect of the case the city has an 
asset that is cuu1 ulati ve in interest to the citizens. Every year 
lends additional charm to the park.* '' The funda1nental elements of 
any large park are not its roads, walks, bridges, buildings and other 
accessory features requisite for the public accommodation in the use 
of the grounds. These may rather be classed as necessary evils. 
The essential element is the landscape, its surface undulations of 
hill and dale or lawn ; its trees, shrubs, flowers, single or in mass, in 
grove or copse; its deep woods or open glades, and its broad 
stretches of green sward or water. All of these in their endless 
combinations are constantly modified by the varying conditions of 
the point of view, the atmosphere, and the seasons. Many visitors, 
however, because they l1appen to have little knowledge of individual 
trees or shrubs, or little taste for landscape beauty, take in like pro­
portion little notice of the ever-fresh, ever-changing features of the 
verdant landscape, and enjoy chiefly the accessory works of mechan• 
ical construction. But the true ideal of park recreation to persons 
worn by the harassing turmoil of city life, is the refreshing enjoy­
ment of all that is beautiful and blissful- that may be seen and felt 
arnid the serene manifestations of nature embodied in the scene." 

There has been no attempt in Washington Park thus. far to add, 
or possibly to detract, from the natural and pleasing effects presented 
by the combinations above referred to. The construction of build­
ings, bridges and " accessory works of mechan~cal construction," 
h~ve been litnited to the requirerµents of the public convenience. 

Art, other than landscape art, has not been represented except in 
the erection of the Burns monument; we are yet to see the results 
of the construction of the memorial fountain surmounted by the 
figure of "Moses Smiting the Rock." The site is admirable, the , 
surroundings every thing that could be desired, and it is to be hoped 
that a happy combination can be made of all these elen1ents. 

Tbe charm of Washington Park is its simplicity. There are no 
obtrusive constructions, no bizarre effects in floral design or color, 
no glaring tones in the foliage, hut the general impression rnade 
upon the visitor is that of a rest£ nl, pleasing landscape, well kept 
and tastefully arranged. 

*"The Embe11ishment of Public Pleasure Grounds," a paper by William Mc­
Millan, Superintendent Buffalo Parks. 
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.A departure from this motive in the design will not prove satis­
factory to those of cultivated taste. 

The park has proved itself a healthful vitalizing force to the 
people of this city, and its worth cannot be estimated pecuniarily; 
its uses stimulate the energies and quicken the pulses of thousands; 
its p~rvasive influence elevates the . moral tone of the community, 
and its great mission is only entered upon and wil] be continuous. . 

I 

The following Rules and By-Laws govern the administrative ac-
. . 

tions of the Board : 

RULES. 
First. There shall be regular meetings of the Oommissioners held 

for the transaction of all business, on the second Monday. in each 
month, and as many adjourned or s~cial meetings as may be neces­
sary. 

Second. The President shall hav~ power to call a special ~eeting 
of the Commissioners whenever in his· judgment it may be proper, 
and he shall also call one upon the written request of three mem­
bers. 

Third. At all special meetings no other business shall be transac­
ted (unless by the unanhnou.s consent of the members present) than 
such as shall have been stated as the object of such meeting in th~ 
notice calling the same. 

Fou1rth. Any business may be transacted at any meeting which 
shall have been continued from the regular monthly meeting by :ad-
journment. · 

Fifth. The Secretary shall send written notices of all regular, 
adjourned and special meetings to each Comn1issioner, through the 
mail, at least twenty-four hours previous to any such meeting. In 
the notice of any special meeting, a brief reference to its object shall 

• • 

be stated. 

Sierth. The officers shall consist of a President, Treasurer and Sec­
retary, who shall be elected at the first regular meeting immediately 
succeeding the appointment of three Commissioners by the Mayor 
to fill the places of the C~mmissioners whose terms shall have by 
law expired, and such o~cers shall hold their office for three years, 
unless sooner removed by the Board. 

8 
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&ven/,A. The President shall preside at all meetings. In his 
absence a chairman pro i,em. shall be named, who shall exercise the 
powers of the President during his absence. All committoes shall, 
unless otherwise ordered by the Board, be ap119inted hy the Presi­
dent, and shall consist of three members each. 

· Eigl,,tl,,. The Treasurer shall have the control and custody of the 
moneys belonging to the Board, and he shall pay the same upon 
vouchers, as hereinafter provided for. 

Ninth. The Secretary shall keep a correct record of the proceed­
ings of the Board at all rneetings, give notices of all regular, 
adjourned and special meetings, and perform such other duties as 
may be devolved upon him by the Board. His books shall be open 
at all times for the inspection of any mernber of the Board. 

Tenth. The following standing committees shall be appointed : 

(1) A Finance Committee. 
(2) An Executive Committee. 
(3) A Committee on Law, By-Lawo and Ordinances. 
(4) An Auditing Committee. 
(5) A Committee upon Architectural Structures. 
(6) A Oommittoo upon Roads, Avenues and Grading. 
(7) A Purchasing Committee. 
(8) A Committee on Planting and Shrubbery . 

.Ekventh. The duties of the several standing committees shall be 
as follows: 

Fm.ANOE Oo1n1rrrEE. 

(1) The Finance Committee (to consist of the President and 
Treasurer eaJ-ojfiaw, and one member of the Board in addition) shall 
have the general charge of the finances of the Board. 

ExEouTIVE CollMITTEE. 

(2) The Executive Committee (to consist of the President as 
e:JJ-Ojficio chairman thereof, and two members of the Board in addi­
tion) shall see that all ]aws, rules ·or ordinances adopted by the Board 
for the government of the park and the employee therein are rigidly 
enforced. Such committee, during the recess of the Board, shall 
represent it so far as to see that all work ordered done by it at the 
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park is faithfully and expeditiously perforrned. The committee 
shall also exercise a general supervision ov·er park work, and the 
engineers, en1ployes and contractors. 

CoMMITrEE .ON LAw, BY-LAws AND 0RDINANOEs. 

(3) The Committee on Law, By-Laws and Ordinances shall have 
referred to it for exarnination .. and report all subjects of - legal 
nature, and it shall propose from time to time such laws or ordi­
nances as shall in its judgrnent be proper, and all laws or otdinances 
proposed by any other 1nember shall first be referred to such com­
mittee for its examination and report." 

Aunrn:NG CoMMI'rrEE. 

(4) The Auditing Com1nittee shall ha,9 e charge of all hills and 
accounts against the Board. Such bills and accounts of an amount 
exceeding 150 shall be first ref erred to this co1nmittee, who shall 
examine and report upon the same to the Board for final action. 
Those of an amount not exceeding $50 may be paid upon receiving 
the appro~al of the committee, without receiving the sanction of the 
Board of Commissioners, with the usual warrant signed by the 
President and countersigned by the Secretary, as hereinafter men­
tioned. The Board shall not pass upon an account until it has first 
been • reported from this committee, unless by unanimous consent. 
After such report the Board shall take final action upon the-account. 
After an account is ordered paid by the Board, the Secretary shall 
issue a warrant, as hereinafter 1nentioned, which shall be signed by 
the President, indorsed by the Secretary and attached to the bill, and 
paid by the Treasurer. 

The Engineers, or whoever they may designate, with the approval of 
the Board of Commissioners, shall, whenever the necessity arises to 
purchase· 1naterials for the constrnction or maintenance of the park, 
n1ake a requisition upo.n the Purchasing Committee, setting forth in 
such requisition, in detail, the number or quantity of articles 

• 
required, and for what purpose, whether for construction or main-
tenance of the park. The Purchasing Committee shall then, if they 
approve such purchase, draw their order upon such person or firms, 
either in or out of the city of Albany, as they rnay deem most ad­
vantageous, posting a complete transcript of said order on the stub 
of the order-book. There shall be printed across the face of each 
order above mentioned, the follo,ving: " Thia order to be retur~ 
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attacA«l, w t"8 bill wMn rendwed /or paymmt.'' And said bill 
must be made out in detail and separate from other bills, that it may 
be oompared by the Auditing Committee with their order attached, 
and the stub in their possession. 

These orders shall be classified, and be noted· on the face thereof, 
as follows : "Oon81,rudion, Aocount.," ".Mainunance Fund," 
" .M.atsrialll of Oonatrt,cti,on and Too!,a,." " Labor and Pay," 
"8111,•r,ega, Naps a,ui, I>raughting,'' "fie"', J>1,ant,a, Skrv/Ja, 
Fwu,era and &«kl," "Jfrei,ght and CarlagB," '' &ationwy, Pri,nt,.. 
ing and .AdtJerlwng," to aid the Treasurer in charging them to 
their 1>roper accounts. 

The Secretary shall keep a warrant-book. Upon the face of each 
warrant issued upo,n the Treasurer, shall be noted the following: 
"Amount of warrant," "its date," "to who,n payable,"." for what 
material or purpose issued," and also bearing the "Purchasing Com­

mittee nu1~ber." This record shall also be kept on the stub of each 
warrant issued. 

Any materials, of any character whatsver, that may be required 
agreeably to the above, for the purpose of maint,aining any portion 
of the park that up to the date of such order may be deemed by the 
Engineem as finished, shall be noted by them in their requisition 
upon the Purchasing Committ.ee as follows: "For maintenance. of 
the park." And the Purchasing Committee shall also, on their 
order, make the same note. 

CoMKITTKE oN AxcurrEOTURAL STauaruRB& 

(5) The Com1nittee on Architectural Structures shall have referred 
to it in the first instance .. for its exa1nination, all propositions for or 
questions in regard to the erection or location of all structures for 
nse or ornament within the park limits, and it shall report to the 
Board its opinion thereon with its reasons therefor . 

• 
CoKMI'ITEE oN RoADs, A vENUEs AND GRADING. 

(6) The Committee on Roads, A venues and Grading shall have re­
ferred to it in the first instance, for its exa1nination, all questions in 
re~rd to the laying out and proper construction and grading of 
ro:cis, avenues and walks anywhere within the park limits, and for 
that purpose the cornmittee may direct the Engineers to 111ake any 
maps or plans which may, in its jnd~ment, be _d?emed necessary to 
a proper understanding aiid an intelligent dcc1s1on of the question. 
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To this comtnittee, also, the question of any proposed park drive, 
its location, general direction and length, properly belongs and must 
be ~ef erred in the first instance for examination and report. 

PuROHASING CoMMrrrEE. 

(7) The Purchasing Com1nittee shall purchase all materials, tools 
and other matters used in and about the construction and mainte­
nance of the park; and no Engineer, contractor or omploye shall, in 
any event, purchase any thing upon the credit of the Commissioners 
for park use, unless under the direction of this com~ittee, or upon 
a special order of the Board. 

0011:MnTEE oN PLANTING AND .SHRUBBERY. 

(8) The Committee on Planting and Shrubbery shall have control 
and supervision over all planting, trees, shrubbery, and also over all 
the lawns in the park, and shall see that the rustic shelters and 
movable seats are kept in order and fit for use. 

Twelfth. At all regular and adjourned meetings the order of ~usi-
ness shall be as follows : 

(1) Reading of minutes of last meeting. 
(2) Presentation of acconnts. 
(3). Reports of standing committees. 
(4) Reports of select com1nittees. 
(5) Communications from officers or contractors employed by the 

Board. 
(6) Motions, resolutions and miscellaneous business. 

TAinuenth. These rules, or any of them, may be altered or_ sus­
pended -

(1) By a majority vote of the members present, where notice of 
the proposed alteration or suspension has been given at least one 
regular tneeting prior to action upon it. 

(2) By a vote of two-thirds of all the rIJembers at any meeting. 

ORDINANCES. 
· The Board of Commissioner& of the Washington Park of the city 

of Albany, at a meeting duly convened, held Joly 12, 1875, do 
hereby ordain and establish the following ordinances* for the gov-

* Amended June ·12, 1888, as to Rules 5 and 7. See note. 
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crnment of the park, and direct that the same be immediately pub­
lished in the official papers of the city of Albany for ten consecutive 
days: 

1. All persons are forbidden to enter or leave the park except by 
the gateways. 

2. To discharge firearms, throw stones or other missiles, or play 
at ball or marbles within its liinits. 

3. To trample on the grass, handle or appropriate the trees, shrubs, 
flowers and plants, or injure or deface any of the buildings, fences 
or other constructions around or in the park. 

4. To use indecent or profane language, or do any indecent or 
obscene act whatever, or post any bill, notice or advertisement upon 
any tree or structure in the park. 

5. To drive over the paths devoted to foot passengers or to travel 
or drive on any of the carriage roads of the park, or ride upon any 
bicycle or tricycle at a rate faster than six miles per hour. 

6. To stand upon the carriage roads, single or in grou_ps, to the 
' . 

obstruction of the way, or for any animal or vehicle to do so. 
7. To ride bicycles or tricycles on the paths or walks, or to trundle 

barrows thereon, or to obstruct the paths or walks in any manner. 
(This rule is not to exclude children under ten years of age from 
using tricycles upon said walks, while in charge of their parents, 
servants or nurses.) . 

8. To pass throngh the park with bundles of sticks, boards. lad­
ders, :wheelbarrows, or any unsightly objects. 

9. To molest or frighten the animals, water fowl or fish. 
10. To lounge on the settees or in the buildings to the exclusion 

of ladies and children. 
11. No on1nibus or express wagon, with or without passengers; 

nor any cart~ dray, ,vagon, truck or vehicle carrying goods, mer­
chandise, manure or other articles, or solely used for the carriage of 
.goods, n1ercbandise, manure or other articles, shall be allowed to 
enter the park roads. 

12. No cattle, horses, goats or swine, or poultry of any descrip­
tion, shall be allowed within the park grounds; nor ~ny dog, unless 
]ed by a chain or cord not exceeding six feet in length; nor sl1all 
any person expose any thing for sale therein, unless by special perrnis­
sion from the Co1nn1issioners. 

13. The park will be open to the public daily, except when special 
occasions may require it to be closed, and will continue open from 
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sunrise to eleven o'clock in the evening, in the months of May, 
Jone, July, August and September, and fron1 sunrise to nine o'clock 
in the evening, during the other 1nonths of the year. · 

AN AcJT SUPPLEMENTARY TO " AN AoT IN RELATION TO A PuBLio 
p ARK IN THE <Jn,y Oi' ALBA.NY." 

P ABBED April 28, 1870. 

SECTION 24. It shall be lawful for the Commissioners of said park, 
at any meeting duly convened, to pass such ordinances as they may 
think necessary for the use, regulation, protection and govern1ncnt 
of the park, the approaches thereto, the grounds, trees, shrubs, 
flowers, roads, pathways, fences and erections in and around it ; and 
such ordinances shall, i1nmediately upon their passage, be published 
in the official paper of the said city of Albany for ten successive 
days ; and all persons offending against such ordinances shall be 
dee1ned guilty of a misdemeanor, and shall be punished, on convic­
tion before any court of competent jurisdiction in the city of 
Albany, by a fine not exceeding one hundred dollars, or by impris­
onment at the discretion of the court. 

Under this law the Commissioners have passed at various times 
rules and regulations governing the use of the lake for skating pur­
poses in winter ; the use of the tennis courts ; the public use of 
Western avenue, the Boulevard, and the sma1ler city parks. These 
cover simply the requirements of a proper maintenance of these 
areas, without an annoying and an obtrusive restriction of their 
public use. 

















Nos. 1, 2, 8. The following views, Nos. 1 to 22, present graphi­
cally some of the promin~nt features in Washington Park. Refer­
ences by map numbers refer to the colored inap appended to this 
pamphlet and locate the points approximately from which the views 
were taken. 

The series commences with a front view of the Bums statue, of 
which Tke New .Albany says : 

" Among the many objects of interest with which the city of 
Albany abounds, and in which its inhabitants take pardonable pride, 
there is none standing so absolutely above adverse criticism as the 
statue of Robert Borns, which was unveiled September 80, 1888, 
but not completed in all its features till the insertion in the pedestal 
of four tablets on the 20th of April, 1891. (Details are shown of 
these in No. 8 of the series.) 

" It is eaay to talk about statues, and so difficult to get them built; 
and the few which are finally erected are so apt to be disappointing, 
that the possession of ono acknowledged to be almost, if not quite 
ideally perfect, is something well worth boasting. It is certainly a 
gratifying thing for us to be able to say that even the land of his 
birth does not contain so entirely a satisfactory figure of Robert 
Bums as does the beautiful Washington Park, in the city of Albany ; 
and to reflect that so long as the enduring bronze shall last, its fame 
in this and other countries will be a loadstone to draw around it 
from all over the ,vorld the innumerable lovers of the Plowman 
Bard, to gaze upon its noble mien, and admire its graceful propor­
tions. It is a statue which pleases alike the popular fancy and the 
artistic taste; the casual spectator sees in it every thing to admire; 
the connoisseur nothing with which to find fault.'' 

The statue is by Charles Calverley. The four panels represent 
the four distinguishing characteristics of Burns' poetry, namely, the 
fancifnl, the sentiinental, the religious and the convivial. 

These panels are shown in detail in No. 3 of the series of views. 









No. 4. This structure is of Moorish design and the details are 
elaborate and artistically worked out. The dome and finial are 
gilded, and bright colors are used to accentuate the details. 

The superstructure is of wood ; the base of stone. 
The intent of the building is to a:ff ord a cool, restful seat, or 

outlook, and cold, potable water for the thirsty during the heated 
months. 

Water fro1n the city mains is conducted through a long coil of 
pipe, entirely submerged in a deep well, near the Refectory build­
ing, and is conducted by pipes under direct pressure from the mains 
to the fountain shelter, where an ornamental iron drinking fountain 
is placed, with metallic cups, for the public convenience. . . 









No. 5. This strnctnre was erected for the pt1blic convenience of 
visitors to the park- and for the purpose of furnishing light 
refreshment.to those desiring it. 

The privileges incidental to the maintenance of this building and 
the Lake Honse in Washington Park for the public convenie:'1~, are 
leased by the Park Commissioners at a nominal rental, with no idea 
of making them a source of revenue, but simply to serve the interests 
of the public. No intoxicating drinks or liquors are allowed to be 
sold, and the sale of cigars or cigarettes to minors is prohibited. 

The building is constructed upon a substantial stone foundation, 
and is roofed with slate, laid in parti-colors. 

The detailed paneling of the sides and piazza ceilings are elaborate, 
and the general effect something like, that of the Swiss chalet. The 
view from the front piazza, eastward, is one of the most pleasing in 
the park, and commands an uninterrupted view of 1,400 feet to 
Willett street. It ls located in the center line of Lancaster street 
produced. 









No. 6. This building was constructed for the public convenience, 
and is the most frequented and popular stmcture in the park. 

In summer it is used as a resting place, and as a boat-house ; light 
refreshments are sold over the counter. The building is surmounted 
by a band-stand, for summer concerts; the immediate surroundings 
of the structure being especially adapted to acco1nmodate a large 
number of vehicles and pedestrians ; the terraces and hill to the north 
furnishing seating capacity to a large concourse of people, During 
the winter season the building is inclosed, heated, and open to the 
public as a skating-house ; the lake being cleared of snow at public 
expense, from a fund set apart in the park maintenance budget for 
that purpose. 

The superstructure is of wood, placed upon brick piers. 
The ground plan affords a retiring room for ladies, one for gen­

tlemen, and a central general room, with refreshwent counter. 









No. 7. This is a level piece of turf (200x300 feet) set apart for the 
use of croquet players, and for competitive drills and parades of the 
boys' academies and militia. An attendant at the croquet-house fur­
nishes the necessary implements for the game to those coming un­
provided. The ground is free to those having their own 1nallets and 
balls; the wickets being supplied by the park authorities, who also 
maintain the turf in proper condition during the season. The 
encircling elms define the area devoted in the old cemetery days to 
the dead of one denomination, now devoted to the uses and 
enjoyment of all sects and creeds. This spot, during the surnmer 
season, when enlivened by the presence of many youthful players, 
of both sexes, presents a charming picture and adds materially to the 
life and varied attractions of the park. 













Noe. 8 and 9. These views of the park lake are about as compre­
hensive as any that can be obtained of its general features. They 
show the character of the shore planting, the location of the beach 
walks, and the treatment of the marginal lines. 

The park lake is 1,750 feet in length, with an average width of 
150 feet, a little over six acres in 1irea. The depth ranges from ten 
feet at the outlet gate to seven feet at the west end. The shore 
lines slope gradually for ten or twelve feet from the margins and 
then become more precipitous. The botto1n slopes gradually from 
tho western extremity to the outlet gate at the east .end. It is 
feasible at any thne to deplete the area by means of a gate valve, 
into a large trunk sewer. 

The lake is supplied with water frorn the city mains, introduced at 
either end, by ornamental fountain jets with a head of from thirty 
to fifty feet. 

The lake inargine are treated naturally, having no stone or artificial 
encircling wall. The banks are well shaded, and provision is made 
at frequent intervals to reach the water, by circuit walks and 
expansive beaches. 

At a narrow point about midway in its length, the lake is spanned 
by a pedestrian bridge of wrought iron, supported by massive stone 
abutments of ashlar masonry. The span is elliptical and 100 feet in 
length. Boating and skating are indulged in at their appropriate 
seasons. The lake is lighted at night by electric arc lights. 

The water is well stocked with fish of several kinds, ranging in 
siz~ from the German carp, nearly three feet in length, to the small 
sunfish. 

















Nos. 10, 11 and 12 show a portion of the lake area as indicated 
on the colored plan of Washington Park, indexed as.No. 21. This 
portion of the lake has been set apart f~r the display of hardy and 
tender aquatic plants. The hardy varieties are planted puru1aneutly 
in beds depressed ·about two feet belo,v the water surface. The 
tender varieties are remo,?ed in the fall and remain dormant in the 
green-houses until the water is warm enough to put them in the lake 
the following summer. There is no feature in the floral display at 
Washington Park that has given such universal satisfaction as this 
aquatic-plant display, and none that, with ordinary care, will more 
fully recompense the care taker. It is a feature that is being intro­
duced iu every prominent park in the country, and in a great many 
private estates of prominence. 

No .. 10 shows the margin of the garden planted with the Egyptian 
lotus, the water hyacinths in two varieties, tho water poppy, and 
lilies in red, white, blue and purple. · 

No. 11, the blending of the marginal growths with the aquatic 
plants by the introduction of exotic plants, such as reeds, bananas, 
caladiums, cannas and grasses. 

No. 12, the bold effects secured by 1nassing the Egyptian lotus as 
a marginal screen, and as a background for the recnrnbent water lilies. 

The summer exhibit is made up of plants covering some fifty or 
more varieties. 





















Nos. 13, 14, 15, 16, are views especially taken to give some idea 
of the mature tree growths, and the lawn effects in Washington 
Park. The elm tree flourishes here, and as yet has not been affected 
by the presence of noxious insects or parasitic growths. There are 
some beautiful specimens in the park. 
• The group in No. 13 is especially fine; the sky line in No. 14 is 
broken and picturesque; and No. 15 shows a combination of the elm 
and scarlet maple, well grouped .,in contrast, overhanging the rustic 
shelter which commands the lawn and a distant view of the Helder­
bergs and Catskills. 

No. 15 also gives a good illustration of sunshine and shadow, as 
emphasizing the landscape effects it is desirable to secure by the de­
tached grouping of standard trees. 

No. 16 is given to illustrate the exterior border planting of Wash­
ington Park, wi_th a view of screening from sight the constructions 
and streets that define it. 
· State street is about one hundred feet from the trees in the fore­

ground of the picture. The sky line is broken and picturesque, and 
not arbitrarily de~ncd by the obtrusive roofs of dwellings. .~ com­
forting sense of seclusion, and absence fro1n the noise, duet, and 
traffic of the street is present ; the restful and satisfying view of 
green turf and a varied foliage cannot but impress the visitor with 
a gratifying sense of relief from these disagreeable features of city 
life. 

Washington Park is in the city and yet out of it in this sense. 

























.. 
Nos. 17, 18, 19, 20. This series of views is given to illustrate the 

floral effects in Washington Park, and can be readily located by the 
indexed numbers, referring to the map. 

No. 17. This portion of the park has been somewhat formally 
treated, with reference to the central effect nltitnately to be obtained 
by the erection of the King .Fountain, the basin of which will be 
about fifty feet in diarneter and the apex of the central figure of a 
group, representing '' Moses smiting the rock,'' about thirty feet 
above the grade of the surrounding walks. 

The foliage bed in the center of the picture now occupies the site 
of the proposed fountain, and is shown more in detail in No. 18. 

No. 19 shows some semi-tropical effects obtained by the grouping 
of exotics, enlivened by the introduction of ribbon work in.design 
and color, as contrasted with the floral effects surrounding the King 
Fountain site. 

No. 20 is sin1ply_ a detached foliage bed, backed by a screen of 
evergreen foliage bringing out the colors and characteristics of the 
plants in bold relief. 

The circular foliage bed shown in No. 18 is thirty feet in diameter, 
and twelve feet high. It is composed of .Altenantltera, .Ach.vranthes, 
Oaladiurn,s, 0annas and Rioinus, or castor oil plants, in combina­
tion of several varieties, and proved very effective, as a central group 
in the general design of the garden. The fountain to be erected on 
this site has been designed by Mr. J. Massey Rhiud of New York, 
and will cost about f30,000. The subject is " Moses smiting the 
rock.'' 









No. 21 shows the only exception to a natural treatment of the 
turfed surfaces in Washington Park, and was occasioned by the 
topographical features of the site, existjng at the time the park was 
constructed. 

The effect, however, as contrasted with the natural treatment of 
the other surfaces, is marked and pleasing. 

The shaded hill-top affords a breezy, restfnl outlook over the 
lake and flower garden, and pleasing views of the main lawn. It 
acco1nmodates, in connection with the terrace walks, a large number 
of people, and is conveniently located to the band or n1usic pavilion 
surmounting the Lake House. 

The terraces are ornamented with vases of artistic design, filled 
with :flowering plants during the summer months · with agaves, 
yuccas P.nd palms forming an accessory decoration. 

















Nos. 22, 23, 24. These views show different aspects of a gronp 
of three buildings constructed by the Park Board for the residence 
of the Superintendent, the storage of the necessary vehicles, tools, 
implements and materials, used in the maintenance of the parks, and 
a range of green-houses and propagating pits for the storage and 
propagation of plants used in the su1nmer decoration of the several 
parks of the city. 

Being located without the park, and yet conveniently accessible 
to it, all the disagreeable features necessarily incidental to the 
storage of fertilizers, and constructive materials are kept entirely 
secluded from view, and there is nothing within the limits of Wash­
ington Park to mar any portion of its area, or detract from the 
restful condition ·of the visitor's outlook and surroundings. 









No. 25. This view is shown principally to exhibit the treatment 
of a portion of the north boundary, where private property abuts 
upon the park. The design has been to blend or merge the lawns 
upon the line common to both interests, without a distinctive or 
obtrusive line of demarcation, and to pose the dwellings naturally 
and gracefully, by proper shaping, upon the apices of the undula-

tions. 
A front view of this dwelling is shown in No. 27 - on the left 

of the picture. 
It is not desirable, owing to the many combinations that arise with 

reference to the important questions of shaping, planting, drainage 
and access to and from dwellings so situated, to permit private 
property to abut against an urban park, without a street or pnb]ic 
way interposed as a natural barrier. But when these conditions 
exist, and cannot be 1·eadily eradicated, the true policy would seem 
to demand, when feasible, a pleasing shading or merging of the 
topographical features of the common boundary, without formal 
constructions in masonry, or the planting even of hedges. 

This treatment is graphically shown in the view here given. 













Nos. 26 and 27. No. 26 shows a view of "Thurlow Terrace," a 
short street connecting Western avenue with W~shington Park. 
This street, or park-way, is maintained by the Park Board, the title 
being vested in it. The cost of maintenance is assessed upon the 
private property fronting upon both sides. The ground plan is 
shown upon the colored map of Washington Park. The sidewalk 
Rpaces are planted with elms, and the middle, park-like strips, are 
planted with :flowering shrubs. 

The dwellings are set back forty feet from the street line, pre­
senting fine lawn effects along its margin. 

The constructions are limited, by a clause in the deeds of convey­
ance, to dwellings of a certain character, and no objectionable fences 
or erections can be placed within the limits of the avenue. 

No. 27 shows two of several dwellings fronting on " Englewood 
Place," a short park-way connecting State street with the park lake 
driveway. This street is not open to vehicles of all classes, except 
for the especial convenience of residents, in obtaining their necessary 
_supplies.· It is maintained by the Park Board, one-half the cost 
being assessed upon the private property fronting it on the west side. 

The road-bed is a good specimen of a Telford-McAdam road, 
treated with a gravel surface. It is well drained and substantia,ly 
constructed, and has proved for the class of traffic utilizing it, one 
of the best and most satisfactory surfaces for pleasure travel. The 
lawns in front of the dwellings are free from planting. Shrubs and 
flowers forming simply a border for the near decoration of the 
foundations of the buildings. 

The effect is simple and exceptionally pleasing; a longitudinal 
view of the street showing an unbroken line of lawn, its entire 
length. As an example, for suburban villa treatment, there is no 
better in the State. 

There are no fences dividing the several properties. 
The whole front has been treated as one property for a general 

effect. 





















Nos. 28, 29, 80, 31, are views of four of the seven sma1l city parks 
maintained by the Park Board. These are all of small a1·ea, and are 
not parks in the proper ~eaning of the term. 'f hree of them are 
inclosed, and in these more or less ornamental planting and floral 
decoration is possible and permissible. The others are traversed by 
,val ks, as direct as the lines of transit call for. In the case of the 
ground plan of Academy Park a happy solution of this very im-­
portant feature ,vas solved, very much to the gratification of pedes­
trians, ~nd the satisfaction of those fronting upon the park, witlfont 
giving stiff mathematically straight lines, and by treating the sur-­
faces of the park in a simple manner, in keeping with the fine shade 
trees that ornament the grounds. 

No. 28 is a view in St. Joseph's Park. This is a small inclosed 
area adjacent to St. Joseph's Church. It contains many rare orna-­
mental trees and shrubs. The church adjoining the park lends 
architecturally an additional charm to the inclosure, and as a back­
ground to the park forrns an unique setting. In the view shown, the 
church is to the right of the pi~ture and is not seen. 

No. 29, Rensselaer Park, on the north side of St. Joseph's 
Church, is another inclosed area, nicely shaded with detached trees, 
and is treated simply as a lawn, with some ornamental shrubbery 
confined to the exterior borders, and a little decorative planting 
introduced in the central part of the inclosure, during the summer 
months. 

No. 30. Townsend Park is a small area formed by the intersec-­
tion of two prominent avenues of the city- Central and Washington 
avenues. A straight walk gives direct transit longitudinally across 
the park, and other walks cross it at points called for by the loca­
tion of the street crosswalks. It is sitnply treated as a lawn. A fine 
row of elm trees encircle the exterior border of the park. 

No. 31 is a view of a portion of Academy Park fronting the Boys' 
Academy. This park is very centrally located. The State Capitol, 
the City Hall, the High School, the State Hall, and the Boys' 
Academy, all being visible and, with the exception of the State 
Capitol, directly fronting upou the park. The architectural features 
surrounding it are therefore unique, and are not surpassed by any 
park of its size in the country. The Academy building, shown in 
the view, is a structure pure in its style of architecture, and dear to 
the hearts and minds of rnany of the past graduates and the present 
aspiring youth within its classic portals. 

This park was forn1erly incloscd by a high \\'rought-iron fence and 
the walks were laid out in a rectangular systern without much regard 



to the convenience or comfort of pedestrians. It was overcrowded 
with trees, some entirely unsuited to the soil and location. 

The park waa reconstructed in 1882, agreeably to plans and esti-
1nates prepared by the Park Snperintenden~ and for a snm within 
the limits specified, namely, 14,500. 

A large number of trees were removed to break up the formality 
of planting and to give pleasing effects of lawn, light and shadow. 

The inclosing fence was removed and snbatantial flagged walks 
introduced on easy curved but direct lines of transit. The expendi­
ture of 14,500 was never more judiciously made in this city, judg-
ing fro1n the effects obtained. · 

The other small parks of the city are Bleecker. Hudson avenue 
and Beaverwyck parks. The latter has not been improved, exeept 
in the matter of grading and seeding it down for the use of the boys 
as a. base-ball ground, for which .purpose it is in great demand. 



The other areas eared for by the Park Board arc W estem 
avenue and the Boulevard between Western avenue and Central 
avenues. 

The firtJt, or Western avenue, 1s a street ninety-nine feet in width 
and a little over a mile and one-half in• length. The roadway is 
forty feet wide _and is paved with granite blocks. It is curbed, 
drained and flagged as to the sidewalks; the other spaces being oc­
cn pied by two rows of Norway maples, and the turf spaces. Back 
of the flagged sidewalks, the gas, water and sewer mains are laid, 
and from the main sewers, branches are extended every forty-four 
feet, or lees in many cases, to the property lines. 

It is the best and most substantial piece of block paving, laid in 
black sand, in the city. 

The turfed spaces are mowed, the trees trimmed, the drainage 
cared for, and the street cleaned at the expense of the Park Board 
and by the park employees. 

The Boulevard, so called, is an avenue varying from one hundred 
to one l1undred and fifty feet in width, and as constructed a mile in 
length. The roadway is forty feet in width, flanked on either side 
by turfed spaces, bridle paths, walks and tree planting. The road­
way is of Telford and McAdam construction with a gravel surface. 
When proper]y maintained, it presents a fine surface for speeding 
horses or pleasu~e traffic. No restrictions have been placed upon 
its use as a general thoroughfare. The turfed spaces, the planting, 
drainage and road surfaces, are maintained by the Park Board. 

On the grounds surrounding the superintendent's cottage, a small 
nursery for ornamental trees and shrubs is maintained, about five 
acres being included in that portion of the Alms-Honse farm set 
apart for the purpose. 

In addition to the areas improved and maintained by the B~ard 
of Comrnissioners of Washington Park, amounting as heretofore 
stated in the aggre,gate to one hundred and forty acres, the title to 
a much larger acreage of unimproved property is vested in the same 
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board. By recent legislative enactment the Dudley Observatory 
will be removed to the Alms-House grounds, six acres being f?et 
aside and deeded to the trustees of that institution for its future 
requirements. The present site in the northern section of the city 
will be vested in the Board of Com1nissioners of Washington Park, 
and when added to the lands lying_ irnmediat~ly west of this acquisi­
tion, extending to Knox street, will make a f utute park for that 
section of thirty-eight acres. By chap. 134 of the Laws of 1892, 
title is now being acquired to '\\"hat is to be known as Beaver Park, 
an area of sixty-eight acres. The title to the Penitentiary grounds 
and the Alms-House farm is vested, by chap. 582 of the Laws o.f 
1869 in the Park Board. ''·Nothing in the act, however, shall be con­
strued to confer upon the Board of Trustees (Park Commissioners), 
any title in or power over the Penitentiary and Alms-House build­
ings, and the grounds i.mrnediately adjacent thereto." 

The Penitentiary grounds embrace .an area of twenty-four acres. 
The Alms-House grounds cover an area of one hundred .and twenty 
acres. Title is also vested in the Park Board to about twelve acres 
of unimproved boulevard in the northern section. As early as the 
year 1876, in the history of park development in this citJr, twenty­
eight acres of land was acquired by the Commissioners of Washington 
Park, lying east of Knox street, adjoining the Dudley Observatory· 
grounds. 

The intent at that ti1ne ,vas to form, in connection ,vith the public 
use of these grounds a park of thirty-eight acres, to be connected by 
a boulevard extending westward through the Tivoli lakes or Water­
,vorks property, and thence by a some\vhat" circuitous route to con­
nect with the present .terminus of the Boulevard as constructed at 
Central avenue. 

Plans lUld estitnates were submitted for the work of constructing 
these connecting driveways. Some wor}.{ was performed, bringing 
tbe construction to the point of finished sub-grade. This work was 
undertaken during the ,viuter season, and was called for by the 
demand for some relief to the existing distress at that time among 
the city poor. The estiinates submitted for finishing and draining 
the roadways were so large, and relief being secured early in the 
following spring by constructive work in various parts of the cit;r, 
the project was temporarily abandoned, and all work suspended. 

The recent acquisition of the Dudley Observatory grounds may 
revive a sentiment for a park in the northern section. 
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The total acreage at present vested in the Board of Con1missioners 
of -Washington Park is as follows: 

Acres. 
Improved as heretofore estimated (see tabulated statement). . . . . . . • . . • • . . . • 140 
Dudley Observatory grounds, etc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • • . . . • . . . . 88 
Connecting Boulevard to Central avenue.. . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . 12 
Beaver Park .......•.•• , . . • . • . • • . • • . • • • . • • • . . . . . . . . . . . • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • . . 68 
Penitentiary grounds ....•••..........•....•.•••. : .•..•..•••..•• " . • • . • • • 24 
Alms-House grounds ...•••••••••....• ~ • . . . • . • . • . . . . . . . . . . . • . • • • . . . . . • • • 120 

To'tal. ac.res . . . . • • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • . • • • . . . . . . • • . . • • . • • • • • • • • • • • ~2 

Six views are l'hown to illustrate more graphically the topographi­
cal conditions of that portion of the site of Beaver Park lying east 
of Swan street. It may, at some futnre day (not so far distant as 
the present conditions would seem to warrant), be interesting to 
compare these views with others to be taken when this area is im­
proved. 

The former topographical conditions of the site of Beaver Park 
were exceedingly picturesque. It is possible to restore these in a 
measure. The native thorn and azalea 1nay bloom again upon the 
steep banks, and although the Buttermilk Falls may not be restored, 
for want of an adequate water supply, a ramble through_ the gorge 
formerly eroded by the stream, may, by proper treatment, and a 
judicious restoration of the indigenous ·:flora. be made exceedingly 
attractive. ~-

A stroll through improved public grounds, extending from Philip 
street on the east to Lake avenue o:n the west, a distance of one mile 
and a quarter, may not be one of the impossibilities of the future. 

With the hope t;hat an inspection of this illustrated pamphlet 
of the city parks of Albany may have proved sufficiently interest­
ing to those acquainted with the gradual development of the city 
park system thus far completed, and that the statistical information 
given may answer, in a measure, the inquiries so often n1ade as to these 
features of park administration, the author can safely 8ay that he 
has taken pleasure not only in this effort, but the greater and more 
satisfactory one of being an humble instrument in the develop1nent 
of something that the city is proud of, and that he has received re­
con1pense for many years of painstaking effort in the visible evidence 
of his labor. 

It cannot but be interesting to devise and watch the gradual de­
velopment of a landscape, very .much as the artist paints a picture. 
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First, the groundwork and constructive features, t;o be followed 
by the details of oma1ncntation. The artist must have a true ~oo­
ception of the subject he ,l9ishes to portray. He does not start i~, 
in a hap-hazard 1nanner, hoping that son1ething artistic may develop 
as he advances with his work; but a well-defined idea 1nust be con­
ceived at the start, of the general effect to result from the many 
combinations of design and color. 

When this idea is conceived and ,veil established by a complete 
design, a park is not to be made in a month or a year. Nature 
cannot be forced, but assisted in the development of the some­
what complicated mantle she assumes. 

It is this progressive work that pleases, and affords the interest 
and charm to the landscape :irchitect. Nature responds so generously 
when she is understood, and tho more intimate one becomes with 
her laws the closer become the ties that bind one to her. 

It is a pleasure to pl~nt and see the trees, shrubs and fl.owers de­
velop witb a continuous and int.elligent oversight; to anticipate 
the requirements of the seasons and the resultant needs of the many 
growths ranging from the hardy to the exotic plants; to see daily 
results of your care develop with the advancing sr..ason, and kno\f-' 
that thousands are enjoying the results of your labor, in addition 
to the pleasure you may derive from it yourself. · 

It is a pity that all individual effort in the many channels of life 
does not receive such a responsive throb as nature bestows, to repay 
one beyond the measure of a pecuniary recompense. 



















BEA VER PARK, 1892. 
Looking westward from 














